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KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

Lea Laboratory~ the oldest rema~n~ng building on the original campus of Wake 
Forest University~ is a handsome Colonial Revival style structure which forms the 
nQrth side of the campus green. The green, a grassed area encompassing approximately 
five acres in the center of the campus, is planted with large oaks. Centered on the 
green is the site of the campus well, marked by a marble fountain. erected by the class 
of 1911 The fountain is sheltered by a polygonal gazebo supported on slender Doric 
column.':::;) with a pyramidal tin roof "lith eaves of exposed rafters A short distance 
behind Lea Laboratory, a low fieldstone wall adjacent to North Avenue forms the 
northern boundary of the campus 

The well-proportioned brick building is an int~iguing blend of Colonial and 
Victorian elements. It consists of a two-story pedimented central block, three bays 
wide and seven deep flanked by one-story pedimented wings, three bays 'vide and three 
deep, connected to the central block with recessed hyphens, four bays wide and three 
deep The walls, laid in Flemish bond, are articulated by a water table and a string 
course which separates the stories of the central block Low gabled slat~ roofs w'ith 
boxed molded cornices and eaves terminate the building. Nine interior brick chimneys 
with tall stacks and corbeled caps, typical of the Queen Anne style,. project from. the 
roofs one from the central block and four from each wing. With the exception of the 
sills and keystones of the openings, the delicate decorative detail of the building is 
executed in wood .. 

The main entrance, located in the center bay of ·the central block of the main 
(south) facade, is a double door$ each leaf with four raised 'panels, surmounted by a 
lintel adorned with a dentil course, ,and a fanlight \V"fth arched \-rooden tracery 0 The 
door is set within a round-arched opening with a raised-paneled soffit and reveals 
and a molded architrave The entrance is emphasized by a.shallow molded broken pedi:- I 

ment "\,jith a dentil cornice, supported by pilasters with eccentric Doric capitals .. 
Three quarried granite steps ascend to the stone entrance sill. A rectangular marble 'I 
cornerstone is centered on th~ main facade between the two stories of the central 
block In the center bay of each pedimented wing is a subsidiary entrance, consisting 
of a double door, each leaf with three raised panels, surmounted by a dentil cornice 
and fanlight and set within a molded architrave The east entrance fanlight is very 
similar to that of the main entrance, while the west fanlight contains an additional 
circular motif. Each of these doors is set within a round-arched opening with an 
arched brick surround with stone keystones at the top and sides The first story of 
the main facade contains round-arched sixteen-aver-sixteen sash windows with molded 
stone sills and stone keystones The muntins of the upper sash terminate in arched 
tracery The main facade windows of the second story of the central block consist of 
rectangular sash with flat brick arches but are otherwise identical to those of the 
first story The ornate roof entablature of the main facade of the central block is 
composed of a molded architrave, a brick frieze, a cornice with a delicate dentil 
course and arched corbel course and molded eaves which carry around the pediment 
(Only the molded cornice defines the raking lines of the pediment.) The brick tYT!lpanum 
contains a large oval 1;.;rindmv with curved muntins set \vithin a molded frame and brick 
surround with four stone keystones. 
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The decorative finish of the side and rear elev.ations is much simpler than that 
of the main facade Windows identical to those of the first-story main facade, with 
the exc2.ption of the 8tone sills, which are plain, pierce the side elevations of lhe 
wings. Windows identical to those of the first-story main facade, with the exception 
of the keystones, which are brickJoccur on the rear wing elevations. The side and rear 
elevations of the central block contain rectangular sixteen-over-sixteen sash windows 
id8nti~al to those of the upper story of the main facad2 cf the central blo~k~itb the 
exception of plain sills and brick keystones. The eave treatment of the sides and 
rear of the main block and of the wings consists of a cove cornice and molded eave, 
which continues across the rear gable end of the central block to form a pediment, 
and forms eave returns on the rear gable ends of the wings The rear pediment of the 
central block has a brick tympanum and a four-pane lunette window with a molded archi­
trave and an arched brick surround The gable end of each wing contains a rectangular 
nine-pane casement set l;vithin a segmental-arched opening 

The building has three rear entrances. In the center bay of the central block 
is a narrow double door, each leaf with two raised panels. This is surmounted by a 
lintel with a dentil course and a single-pane transom. A short flight of wooden steps 
with molded balusters and handrail and turned newels ascends to this entrance. In 
the inner bay of each wing, adjacent to the central block, is a door set within an 
opening identical to those of the rear wing windows, with a geometrically-paned fan­
light and a replacement glazed door. The basement beneath the central block is reached 
by doors which flank the central rear entrance. Each door has four raised panels and 
is set l;vithin a plain surround. Eight-pane casement windows illuminate the basement. 

Although the building has housed a variety of activities since its construction 
as a chemistry laboratory, the original floor plan is still discernible, though 
additional rooms have been partitioned off, and much of the original fabric· remains. 
The first floor originally contained four rooms: a large room in the central block 
vlith a smaller room behind it, and a single room in each wing Three small rooms have 
been added vli thin these large spaces. The second floor, which contains four rooms, 
appears to be essentially unaltered In the northeast corner of the central block, 
an enclosed stair rises in two flights to the second floor.. This enclosed stair 
continues in the same corner from the second floor to the unfinished attic A wooden 
ladder leads to a scuttle hole in the roof The remaining original interior finish 
consists of plaster ';valls, molded plaster cornices, tl;vo-part molded architraves, doors 
,;vith six flat panels and decorative cast-iron hardware .. 



PERIOD 

_PREHISTORIC 

_1400-1499 

..:-1500-1599 

_1600-1699 

_1700-1799 

-1\.1800·1899 

_1900-

AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE·- CHECK AND ~USTIFY BELOW 

-ARCHEOLOGY·PREHISTORIC _COMMUNITY PLANNING _LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE. _RELIGION 

-ARCHEOLOGY-HISTORIC _CONSERVATION "-LAW _SCIENCE 

-AGRICULTURE _ECONOMICS _LITERATURE _S~ULPTURE 

XARCHITECTURE ~EDUCATJON _MllITAfi,Y -SOCIAUHUMANITARIAN 

-ART _ENGINEERING _MUSIC _THEATER· 

_COMMERCE _EXPLOAATION/SETILEMENT _PHILOSOPHY _TRANSPORTATION 

_COMMUNICATIONS -INDUSTRY _POLITICS/GOVERNMENT _OTHER (SPECIFY) 
~ ... - ... 

-INVENTION 

SPECIFIC DATES 1887-1888. BUILDER/ARCHITECT John Appleton W~lson 

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Lea Laboratory is the oldest surv~v~ng building of Wake Forest College, among .the 
oldest colleges in the state., It was one of the first chemical laboratories constructed 
ana Southern college campus. Designed by architect John Appleton Wilson of Baltimore 
and completed in 1888,· ·it is an unusually early and rather scholarly example of the 
Colonial Revival style. P~rvading the carefully academic Colonial character of the 
building with its pedimented main block is an irrepressibly Victorian spirit expresseq 
in the chimneys, doors, and other· details. 

Lea Laboratory was the fourth permanent building to be erected on the first campus 
of Wake Forest Colleg~ in northeastern \'lake County.. The structure was named for Sidney 
Slade Lea, a wealthy Caswell. County tobacco farmer, and his wife Fannie;E. Lea Q 

Wake Forest College opened its doors in 1834 as ~vake Forest Institute. Its site, 
about fifteen miles north of the town·of Raleigh, was selected by a committee of the 
Baptist State Convention of North Carolina in 1832. The 6l5-acre tract of forested 
farmland was purchased by the. Convention from Dr. Calvin Jones on August 28, 1832, for 
$2,000. It was.the sixth institution of higher learning to be established in. North 
Carolina .. 

In May, 1834, the college's board of trustees resolved to construct a permanent. 
building as soon as funds were available, and to erect immediately several temporary 
houses.. Three of the latter structures ~vere completed before the end of '1834" In 
December of that year the trustees authorized construction of the college's first per­
manent building, to be known as "The College Building .. " It was designed by a Mr .. Ligon 
and built for $13,000 by Captain John Berry, who agreed to complete his work by January 
1, 1837. The edifice of brick made from local clay, measuring 135 feet wide by sixty­
five feet deep and facing east, served a variety of purpo~es and was (with the exception 
of a small wooden house used by a group of male preparatory students in 1866-1867) 
the campus's only building until 1878. _In that year Colonel J. M. Heck and Mr. John 
Go Williams of R~leigh sponsored a new building to house a hall of science and the 
college's literary societies (the library) 0 The Heck-Williams Building was constructed 
of brick made from local clay. A third building, comptising a large chapel and four 
iecit~tion rooms, and also ~f b~ick, appear~d soon after the completion ofth~ Heck­
Williams Building. 

~vake Forest 1 s board of trustees had long shmvn an interest in securing the facili­
ties necessary for the teaching of chemistry. By 1885 a committee appointed by the 
trllstees had obtained from Sidney S. Lea a pledge of $8,000 specifically for this purpose. 
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Lea a member of one of Caswell County's oldest families, was born there in 1810 
He was a successful tobacco farmer who took an active and generous interest in the 
affairs of the Beulah Missionary Baptist Church of Leasburg, Caswell County, before the 
Civil War and until at least as late as 1879. 

Lea's first act of philanthropy toward lvake Forest College came in 1882, when he 
pledged $3,500 to a fund drive which sought to increase the college's endowment. This 
amount was later increased to $5,000. His concern for Wake Forest apparently stemmed 
from a general interest in Baptist affairs: only one member of his immediate family-­
his brother John G. Lea--attended the institution. (Lea died March 18, 1892. His will 
provided that a quantity of bank stock be given to the trustees of Wake Forest College 
"to be used as they think best for the interest of the College .. ") 

Late in 1886 plans for the proposed laboratory building were drmm by architect,g 
John Appleton \V'ilson, of Baltimore, under the direction of Dr .. James R .. Duggan of the 
college's chemistry department. An executive committee of the board of trustees pro­
vided ~hat, the laboratory be erected "'in the north side of the Campus and not nearer 
the IHeck-William.§/ Library Building than 100 feet .. V" In January) 1887, the trustees 
provided that the new building when completed should be known as the "Lea Laboratory," 
in honor of Sidney Lea and 'his wife Fannie (Mrs .. Lea had died September 18, 1886).. . 

Wilson, who studied architecture at M .. r .. T .. and began his care-er in '1875; worked 
extensively in Maryland and surrounding states.. The building seems to be the earliest 
known example of the Colonial Revival style in North Carolina, and is in the forefront 
of the national Colonial Revival movement .. 'Wilson's personal interest in history, 
evidenc~d by his active involvement with the Maryland Historical Society, may have in­
fluenced his choice of design. The overall design, with its pedimented main block and 
wings, is academically coi~ect, but the preserice of such late Victorian decorative 
elements as the paneled doors, rear stair newels, and Queen Anne chimneys betray its 
transitional position.. This naive blend of two eras gives the design an individuality 
often lacking in more mature Colonial Revival buildings.. . . 

In March, 1887, the building 'contract was let 
Raleigh, and construction began on April 27, 1887. 
pally from "penetentiary" brick, 'tV'as completed and 
1888 .. ' Total cost of the structure was $13,000 .. 

to Ellington, Royster & Company, of 
The building, constructed princi­

ready for occupation by early October, 

The new building's central portion measured about sixty feet by thirty feet and 
contained a stainV'ay to the second story.. On both sides of the central portion \Vere 
one-story wings measuring thirty-two feet by thirty-seven feet. It stood at least 100 
feet north of the Heck-Williams Building and, unlike its neighbors that fac~d east, 
faced south.. Its second story included lec ture rooms and offices, one of 'i;vhich 'i;V'as 
occupied by the college's president until 1901. The west wing was used by the chemistry 
department for many years, while the east served as a biological and mineralogical 
laboratory .. 
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The west wing chemical laboratory facility was designed by Dr. James Reynolds 
Duggan, a young chemistry professor on the faculty.. When completed it was Ifsaid to "be 
the best of its kind south of Baltimore." Its design was praised as one that "is still 
/19437 approved and used in much more costly structures in the great universities of 
the ~ountry .. " 

In the spring of 1900 an astronomical observatory was established on the roof of 
the Lea building. In 1904 the biology department moved into larger quarters in a new 
buildipg. Although now occupied only by the chemistry department, Lea Laboratory was 
enlarged by the addition of gables at the ends of the wings in 1920. This resulted 
principally from increased student enrollment and a greater scholarly interest in the 
subject of chemistry. 

Other new buildings and the remodeling or expansion of existing buildings followed. 
By 1933 thirteen buildings existed both on and off the original campus grounds. The 
College Building, the oldest structure on the campus, was destroyed by fire on May 5, 
1933.. Wingate Memorial Hall, the campus's third building, was like1;vise des troyed on 
February 14,1934.. The Heck-Williams Building,the second building to be added; was 
razed sometime between 1956 (the year the entire college \;"as relocated in 'Winston-Salem) 
and 1962, leaving' the 1887-1888 Lea Laboratory as the original campus's oldest 'surviving 
structure. The old Wake Forest campus. serves today as the Southeastern Baptist Seminary .. 
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